Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: May 5, 2022 REVISED: July 12, 2022 ACCEPTED: July 20, 2022 PUBLISHED: August 19, 2022

# EFT Diagrammatica. Part II. Tracing the UV origin of bosonic D6 CPV and D8 SMEFT operators

#### Wrishik Naskar, Suraj Prakash and Shakeel Ur Rahaman

Indian Institute of Technology Kanpur, Kalyanpur, Kanpur 208016, Uttar Pradesh, INDIA E-mail: wrishiknaskar@gmail.com, surajprk@iitk.ac.in, shakel@iitk.ac.in

ABSTRACT: In recent times, SMEFT, along with a superlative repertoire of theoretical and computational tools, has emerged as an efficacious platform to test the viability of proposed BSM scenarios. With symmetry as the backbone, higher mass dimensional ( $\geq 5$ ) SMEFT operators constitute the *lingua franca* for studying and comparing the direct or indirect effects of UV models on low energy observables. The steady increase in the accessible energy scales for contemporary particle collision experiments prompts us to inspect effective operators beyond the leading order and investigate their measurable impact as well as their connections with the appropriate BSM proposals. We take the next step in delineating the possible UV roots of SMEFT operators by extending our diagrammatic approach, previously employed for CP, baryon, and lepton number conserving dimension-6 operators, to the complete set of purely bosonic SMEFT operators up to mass dimension-8. We catalogue a diverse array of Feynman diagrams elucidating how the operators encapsulate heavy field propagators while abiding by a notion of minimalism.

KEYWORDS: CP Violation, Effective Field Theories, SMEFT, Vector-Like Fermions

ARXIV EPRINT: 2205.00910



# Contents

1	Introduction	1			
<b>2</b>	Fixing heavy field quantum numbers based on fundamental vertices	4			
3	CP-violating D6 operators	8			
	3.1 Signature of CP-violation in SMEFT	8			
	3.2 Unfolding the $\phi^2 X^2$ and $X^3$ operator classes	9			
	3.3 Validation of the results	10			
4	The bosonic sector at D8	10			
	4.1 External states: only $\phi$	11			
	4.1.1 Tree-level	11			
	4.1.2 Heavy-loop	12			
	4.1.3 Light-heavy mixing	12			
	4.1.4 Heavy-heavy mixing	13			
	4.2 External states: only $X_{\mu\nu}$	13			
	4.3 External states: $\phi$ and $X_{\mu\nu}$	14			
	4.3.1 Heavy-loop	14			
	4.3.2 Light-heavy mixing	14			
	4.3.3 Heavy-heavy mixing	16			
	4.4 Validation of the results	17			
5	Common origin of subsets of D6 and D8 operators	19			
6	Conclusion	21			
$\mathbf{A}$	The Standard Model field content and Lagrangian	22			
в	Pure bosonic dimension-8 operators	22			
$\mathbf{C}$	23 Additional vertices describing interactions of SM and BSM fields				

# 1 Introduction

The Standard Model (SM) of Particle Physics has relished a lot of success owing to a multitude of very precise predictions about the features of the subatomic world and their excellent agreement with experiments. The discovery of the Higgs boson [1, 2] elevated the SM from merely a model to a bona fide theory of fundamental particles. Despite all these triumphs, SM fails to account for not only the dark sector but also several aspects

of the visible universe. The most glaring issues have been the observed non-zero masses of neutrinos, the matter-antimatter asymmetry, along with the inexplicable dark matter and dark energy that constitute ninety-five percent of the entire universe.

During the last few decades, several ingenious models have been proposed that have sought to ameliorate our lack of understanding of the subatomic world. Early proposals that garnered a lot of popularity were radical ideas such as Grand Unified Theories (GUTs) and Supersymmetry or even an amalgam of the two. Each of these introduces multiple new degrees of freedom beyond the SM ones, and their symmetry groups contain the SM internal symmetry  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  as a subset. Contemporary efforts have focused more on minimal extensions of the SM, where the internal symmetry is left unaltered, while the number of degrees of freedom is increased by adding one or two fields. A common underlying feature of all such beyond Standard Model (BSM) proposals is the presence of multiple energy scales within them, characterized by the hierarchy among particle masses. The lack of direct experimental detection of BSM resonances necessitates the use of a framework that can not only translate the interactions of the BSM fields in terms of SM ones but also enables us to conduct comparisons between different BSM scenarios against a common backdrop.

Effective Field Theory (EFT) [3, 4] provides us with the necessary set of tools for studying phenomena that encompass different energy scales. Therefore, it is the most suitable framework for addressing the contemporary problems in particle physics. EFT based theoretical and computational tools can enable us to conduct indirect analyses and adjudge the veracity of various new physics proposals, even in the absence of a comprehensive understanding of their Ultra-Violet (UV) origin. In the context of differentiating between BSM scenarios, the Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) is the required common backdrop; for a detailed review, see [5]. SMEFT incorporates higher mass (> 4) dimension operators [6-12] and thus accommodates corrections to the SM parameters and measurables while also providing novel predictions such as flavour violation [13, 14], non-zero baryon and lepton numbers [15-17], and CP-violation [18, 19] among others. Specific model-dependent analyses have been conducted within the top-down EFT formalism [20-28]. Automated tools such as CoDEx [29], MatchingTools [30], STrEAM [31], Matchmakereft [32], SuperTracer [33] have made it convenient to conduct such analyses for a variety of BSM models. At the same time, the *bottom-up* formalism [34-39] facilitates model-independent studies that ultimately allow us to enforce constraints on the SMEFT free parameters, i.e., the Wilson coefficients corresponding to the effective operators.

In [40], we had highlighted a novel approach towards addressing the "inverse problem", i.e., pinpointing the valid BSM proposals in the event of the observation of anomalies or disagreement between SM predictions and experimental results. Employing simple symmetry based arguments, we unfolded CP, baryon and lepton number conserving SMEFT operators of mass dimension-6 to tree- and one-loop-level Feynman diagrams revealing heavy field propagators. The direct as well as indirect relations between SMEFT operators of mass dimension-6 and precision observables has been well-documented [41–45]. By cataloguing possible heavy field quantum numbers corresponding to individual operators, we established direct links between BSM proposals and low-energy observables, thus providing concrete motivations for specific model-dependent analyses.

Recently, the SMEFT operators of mass dimension-8 have been garnering a lot of attention within the high energy physics community. In the coming years, as we usher into the era of higher luminosity at the LHC, operators of mass dimension-6 alone may not be sufficient to reconcile theoretical calculations with the experimental findings, and inclusion of the next order i.e.,  $1/\Lambda^4$  suppressed operators will become highly significant. Within scattering amplitudes, the dimension-8 (D8) operators can intermix with the renormalizable SM interactions to generate interference terms and offer corrections of  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^4)$  to the cross-section of the process under study. This is the same order of correction that the self-mixing of dimension-6 (D6) operators produces. So, if there is no *a priori* constraint preventing the inclusion of  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^4)$  corrections, the inclusion of the D8 contributions becomes customary [36, 46–49]. Additionally, the D8 operators present certain novel features which are absent in both the SM as well as the D6 operators. Most notably, vector boson interactions such as the neutral triple, e.g.,  $ZZ\gamma$ ,  $Z\gamma\gamma$  and quartic gauge boson couplings e.g., ZZZZ,  $ZZ\gamma\gamma$ ,  $\gamma\gamma\gamma\gamma\gamma$  [9, 50–52] which could serve as evidences for new physics.

Recognising the growing interest in the sub-leading order of SMEFT, we have extended our approach and studied the links connecting CP-conserving as well CP-violating purely bosonic operator classes of mass dimension-8 to candidate UV theories. For the sake of completeness, we have also included CP-violating D6 operators in our discussion. We have adhered to the notion of minimality outlined in [40], which can be reiterated as follows:

- We have taken into account only those SM extensions where the internal symmetry remains the same as that of the SM; therefore none of our diagrams involves heavy vector boson propagators.
- While unfolding the operators into diagrams, preference has been given to those diagrams that are less varied with respect to the types of vertices as well as with respect to the variety of heavy propagators within them. This is done with the aim of ascertaining the allowed heavy field quantum numbers as closely as we can for a given operator class. We have relaxed this criteria of minimality for cases where operator unfolding can only be accomplished with more than one heavy propagator and (or) the external states necessitate the inclusion of a wider variety of vertices.
- For a given operator class, the progression from tree-level to one-loop diagrams and then to two-loop diagrams becomes necessary when the lower order diagram cannot provide the links between the particular operator and certain classes of BSM models. For instance, for operators with H and  $H^{\dagger}$  as the external states, only a finite number of heavy scalars appear through tree-level diagrams, but a wider variety are accessible if we take one-loop diagrams into account. Similarly, unless SM fermions are present as the external states in an operator, heavy fermions only emerge through one-loop diagrams.

It must be emphasized that the notion of minimality differs based on the operator class and the family of BSM extensions being discussed. For example, while unfolding operators composed only of the SM scalar and its derivative to reveal heavy scalar propagators, the most minimal scenario corresponds to a tree-level diagram. On the other hand, for CP-violating operators constituted of SM field strength tensors, the most minimal structure is a two-loop diagram with a pair of heavy fermion propagators.

It must be noted that our discussion is focussed on operator classes instead of individual operators. While the latter would have been more exhaustive and richer in detail, we discovered during our analysis that the exact patterns of the diagrams that can be obtained from the schematic unfolding of operator classes are replicated even when we consider individual operators of those classes. Although, it must be mentioned that, by limiting ourselves to the level of operator classes, the specific contributions from heavy fields to individual SMEFT operators are not explicitly revealed. Also, if one forgoes our concept of minimality, one may obtain additional heavy field quantum numbers that give rise to operators of certain classes. Yet, the choice to restrict our focus to operator classes and the adherence to a pre-defined notion of minimality helps us to determine the BSM origin of SMEFT operators in a structured manner without having to worry about the vast multitude of operators at dimension-8. Our approach sufficiently achieves the aim of highlighting a well-defined rationale for conducting phenomenological analyses on certain SM extensions based on their links with SMEFT operators and thus with observables.

The structure of the article is as follows: we have started by outlining the building blocks of our construction, i.e., Lorentz invariant vertices describing interactions between light SM fields and possible heavy fields in section 2. This is followed by a discussion on CP-violating D6 operators and their UV roots in section 3. Next, we have conducted an extensive examination of the bosonic sector at mass dimension-8, in section 4. We have constructed tree-level, one-loop as well as two-loop diagrams where necessary. Based on these diagrams we have catalogued heavy field quantum numbers for each sub-class of operators. At the end of section 4, we have provided comparisons as well as validation of a subset of our results against recent literature describing similar connections between SMEFT operators and heavy fields. In section 5, we have provided a commentary on the common UV origin of D6 and D8 operators while also emphasizing the subtle ways in which they differ from each other. Through this, we have also underlined the phenomenological significance of the operators discussed in this article.

# 2 Fixing heavy field quantum numbers based on fundamental vertices

The first and the most vital step of our systematic procedure of unfolding effective operators into Feynman diagrams is enumerating the building blocks of these diagrams, i.e., listing all possible vertices that would in turn constitute those diagrams. In the context of this work, the following points must be noted:

- Since our focus is entirely on purely bosonic operators, the only possible external states are the SM scalar  $\phi \in \{H, H^{\dagger}\}$  and the field strength tensors  $X_{\mu\nu} \in \{G^{A}_{\mu\nu}, W^{I}_{\mu\nu}, B_{\mu\nu}\}$ , as well as their dual tensors  $\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu}$ .
- While, many of the operators contain covariant derivatives acting on the fields, we have not explicitly highlighted them in the diagrams, since their presence does not

Symbol	Represents	Symbol	Represents
	Light (SM) scalar		Heavy scalar
	Light (SM) fermion		Heavy fermion
	Field strength tensor		2nd Heavy fermion

Table 1. Representations for tree-level light and heavy propagators of various spins.



Figure 1. Vertices describing interactions between light (SM) and heavy fields. The black lines denote SM fields, whereas the pink and blue lines denote heavy fields. In  $V_5$ , two unique colors have been used to explicitly highlight the presence of two heavy fields.

affect the heavy field quantum numbers. This is one notable departure from the conventions established in [40], where we had elucidated the symbolic contraction of Lorentz indices in each diagram.

• The vertices as well as the diagrams have been constructed so as to directly match the external states of the operators, these should not be confused with low-energy process diagrams, this is why we have highlighted field strength tensors rather than the vector bosons and scalar or fermion multiplets rather individual fields in the diagrams that follow.

The vertices relevant to our discussion have been shown in figure 1 (additional vertices constituted of the same propagators but not relevant to the diagrams described in this article have been depicted in appendix C) and the various internal and external lines used within these have been described in table 1. The heavy field quantum numbers in each case can be fixed based on symmetry arguments and by using the  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  quantum numbers of the SM fields, see table 5. We have provided detailed descriptions for each case below:

- 1.  $V_1$ : a trilinear scalar vertex with one heavy and two light fields. In this case, we have two<sup>1</sup> unique possibilities:
  - (a)  $\phi_1 = H$ ,  $\phi_2 = H^{\dagger}$ : since H transforms as  $(1, 2, \frac{1}{2})$ , this implies that the only possible heavy scalar quantum numbers are  $\Phi \in \{(1, 1, 0), (1, 3, 0)\}$ .
  - (b)  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = H$ : this implies  $\Phi \in \{(1,3,1)\}.^2$
- 2.  $V_2$ : a quartic scalar vertex with one heavy and three light fields. Again, we have two distinct sub-cases:
  - (a)  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = H, \phi_3 = H^{\dagger}$ : this implies  $\Phi \in \{(1, 2, \frac{1}{2}), (1, 4, \frac{1}{2})\}.$
  - (b)  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = \phi_3 = H$ : this implies  $\Phi \in \{(1, 2, \frac{3}{2}), (1, 4, \frac{3}{2})\}.$
- 3. V<sub>3</sub>: a quartic scalar vertex with two heavy and two light fields. With  $\phi_1 = H$ and  $\phi_2 = H^{\dagger}$ , this vertex is ubiquitous across all models containing a second scalar apart from the SM Higgs. In this case, the heavy field quantum number cannot be determined uniquely and it can have arbitrary quantum numbers under  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ , i.e.,  $\Phi \in \{(R_C, R_L, Y)\}$ . Here,  $R_C$ ,  $R_L$  denote valid representations under the  $SU(3)_C$  and  $SU(2)_L$  groups respectively and Y refers to the  $U(1)_Y$  hypercharge.

A second more elaborate case corresponds to when  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = H$ . In that case we require two heavy scalars, whose quantum numbers must be such so that all four scalars form an overall singlet. We have not delved any deeper into such cases in the remainder of this work since this case departs strongly from our notion of minimality.

- 4.  $V_4$ : a Yukawa-like vertex with a light scalar, a light fermion and a heavy fermion. Owing to the rich fermion sector of the SM, there are multiple possibilities and these have been catalogued in table 2.
- 5. V<sub>5</sub>: a Yukawa-like vertex with a light scalar and two heavy fermions.<sup>3</sup> Once again, the quantum numbers of  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$ , i.e.,  $(R_{C_1}, R_{L_1}, Y_1)$  and  $(R_{C_2}, R_{L_2}, Y_2)$  cannot be fixed exactly but we can impose the following constraints on them:

$$R_{C_1} \otimes R_{C_2} = 1, \qquad R_{L_1} \otimes R_{L_2} = 2, \qquad Y_1 = Y_2 \pm \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (2.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The third possibility  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = H^{\dagger}$  simply gives the conjugate of the result of case (b), therefore we have chosen not to enumerate it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The exclusion of  $\Phi \in \{(1, 1, 1)\}$  can be explained as follows: the interaction between 2 *H*'s and one such  $\Phi$  can be described by the term  $\kappa \epsilon_{ij} H^i H^j \Phi^*$  where  $\kappa$  is the coupling constant, and  $\epsilon_{ij}$  is the completely antisymmetric rank-2 tensor which is required to construct an SU(2) singlet from the product of two SU(2) doublets. The product  $H^i H^j$  is symmetric with respect to particle exchange and thus is symmetric in the indices i, j whereas  $\epsilon_{ij}$  is antisymmetric in the same two indices. As a result of this, the overall term being a product of a symmetric and an antisymmetric piece vanishes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>While we have refrained from discussing scenarios with two distinct heavy scalars at the same vertex, we cannot exclude the similar case involving fermions. This is owing to the fact that CP-violating bosonic SMEFT operators cannot be generated by a single heavy fermion. We discuss this in more detail in section 3.

	JHF
t	
	0
•	$\frown$
S	$\sim$
1	$\bigcirc$
-	$\bigcirc$
	$\mathbb{N}$
)	$\sum_{i=1}^{N}$

\_\_ 9

$\phi$	$\psi$	$\Psi$ (quantum numbers)	$\phi$	$\psi$	$\Psi$ (quantum numbers)
Н	$q_L$	$\{(\bar{3},1,-\frac{2}{3}),(\bar{3},3,-\frac{2}{3})\}$	$H^{\dagger}$	$q_L$	$\{(\bar{3},1,\frac{1}{3}),(\bar{3},3,\frac{1}{3})\}$
H	$l_L$	$\{(1,1,0), (1,3,0)\}$	$H^{\dagger}$	$l_L$	$\{(1,1,1),(1,3,1)\}$
H	$u_R$	$\{(\bar{3},2,-\frac{7}{6})\}$	$H^{\dagger}$	$u_R$	$\{(\bar{3},2,-rac{1}{6})\}$
H	$d_R$	$\{(\bar{3},2,-\tfrac{1}{6})\}$	$H^{\dagger}$	$d_R$	$\{(\bar{3},2,\tfrac{5}{6})\}$
H	$e_R$	$\{(1,2,rac{1}{2})\}$	$H^{\dagger}$	$e_R$	$\{(1,2,\tfrac{3}{2})\}$

Table 2. Lists of heavy field quantum numbers for different choices of the light scalar and light fermion in the vertex  $V_4$ .

In the last relation, + or - appears depending on whether  $\phi = H^{\dagger}$  or H at the vertex.

6. V<sub>6</sub> and V<sub>7</sub>: here, one of the SM field strength tensors  $(B_{\mu\nu}, W^I_{\mu\nu}, G^A_{\mu\nu})$  appear as the lighter field. In this case, we again have the freedom to assign arbitrary quantum numbers to the heavy field (scalar as well as fermion), except the constraint of nontriviality imposed on one of the three quantum numbers depending on  $X_{\mu\nu}$ :

$$X_{\mu\nu} \equiv B_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow Y \neq 0, \quad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv W^I_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_L \neq 1, \quad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv G^A_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_C \neq 1.$$
(2.2)

In each case, the other quantum numbers can assume arbitrary of values.

These vertices form the rudiments of the Feynman diagrams that appear in the next sections of this article. The forthcoming discussion revolves around tree-level, one-loop diagrams, as well as two-loop diagrams (where necessary). The following points must be emphasized regarding the appearance of different diagrams across the various operator classes:

- Tree-level diagrams containing a heavy scalar propagator appear in a small number of cases and these pinpoint the heavy field quantum numbers exactly. Since the external states consist of  $\phi$ 's and (or)  $X_{\mu\nu}$ 's, we do not encounter tree-level diagrams with a heavy fermion propagator.
- One-loop diagrams composed entirely of a single heavy scalar are ubiquitous across the (CP-conserving dimension-8) operator classes considered in this work. These encapsulate a wide variety of heavy fields.
- One-loop diagrams, composed entirely of a single heavy fermion, appear when the external state consists only of  $X_{\mu\nu}$ 's. These also cover a wide variety of heavy fields with the quantum numbers constrained by the specific  $X_{\mu\nu}$  present at the vertices.
- One-loop diagrams exhibiting light-heavy mixing between an SM fermion and a heavy fermion are vital in scenarios where the external states contain SM scalars. In these

cases, the heavy field-quantum numbers can be inferred precisely. In cases such as for the  $X^4$  operator class at dimension-8, where all heavy fermion possibilities are encompassed by the one-loop diagram consisting of a single heavy fermion, lightheavy mixing is not necessary to account for additional fermions.

- One-loop diagrams exhibiting mixing between two heavy fermions are necessary to trace the UV origin of the CP-violating subset of operator classes containing  $X_{\mu\nu}$ 's. These are also essential to explain the embedding of general heavy fermions with arbitrary quantum numbers within operators made up of only the SM scalar, its conjugate and their derivatives because in such cases one-loop diagrams made up of a unique fermion do not exist.
- Two-loop diagrams with two heavy fermion and one light scalar propagator are unavoidable if we attempt to explain the UV origin of CP-violation through operators of the  $X^3$  and  $X^4$  classes.

# 3 CP-violating D6 operators

CP-violation is a critical component of the matter-antimatter asymmetry puzzle [53]. Within the SM, the presence of a phase in the CKM matrix [54] alone is not sufficient to explain baryogenesis [55–57], additional sources of CP-violation can be described through the inclusion of the CP-violating effective operators [19]. This motivates the search for CP-violation at current and future particle collider programs [58, 59]. Any tangible measurement will essentially point towards BSM sources.

## 3.1 Signature of CP-violation in SMEFT

Extensive studies have been conducted on CP-violation in the context of Higgs physics [60–62]. Within new physics proposals, CP-violation manifests through interactions of the form:  $(a + b \gamma_5) \overline{\Psi}_1 \Psi_2 \phi$  [63–65]. Processes described by fermion loops containing an overall odd number of  $\gamma_5$  at the vertices can carry the signature of CP-violation. The  $\gamma_5$  matrix generates rank-4 Levi-Civita tensors based on the following relation:

$$2\,i\,\sigma_{\rho\delta}\,\gamma_5 = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\delta}\,\sigma^{\mu\nu}.\tag{3.1}$$

Therefore, for the SMEFT operators, the most overt signature of CP-violation is the presence of an odd number of rank-4 Levi-Civita tensors  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ . Thus, operators containing the duals of field strength tensors:

$$\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} X^{\rho\sigma}, \qquad (3.2)$$

encapsulate possible sources of CP-violation. Dimension-6 SMEFT operators that hint towards CP-violation have been listed below, categorized by class:

$$\begin{aligned} \phi^2 X^2 &\to \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{G}} : (H^{\dagger} H) (\tilde{G}^A_{\mu\nu} G^{A\mu\nu}), \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{W}} : (H^{\dagger} H) (\tilde{W}^I_{\mu\nu} W^{I\mu\nu}), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{B}} : (H^{\dagger} H) (\tilde{B}_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}), \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{W}B} : (H^{\dagger} \tau^I H) (\tilde{W}^I_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}), \\ X^3 &\to \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{G}} : f^{ABC} \tilde{G}^{A\mu}_{\nu} G^{B\nu}_{\rho} G^{C\rho}_{\mu}, \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{W}} : \varepsilon^{IJK} \tilde{W}^{I\mu}_{\nu} W^{J\nu}_{\rho} W^{K\rho}_{\mu}. \end{aligned} (3.3)$$



**Figure 2.** Unfolding SMEFT operators of mass dimension-6 belonging to (i), (ii) the  $\phi^2 X^2$  class into one-loop and (iii), (iv) the  $X^3$  class into two-loop Feynman diagrams involving heavy fermion propagators. In order to be concise in our discussion, we have only considered a general Yukawa vertex with the coupling parametrised as  $a + b \gamma_5$ .

It has been established in recent works [63, 64] that while a single heavy fermion in the loop can lead to the CP conserving counterparts of the operators listed in eq. (3.3), the CP-violating ones necessitate the inclusion of a second heavy fermion. Also, the degree of non-triviality increases when we consider CP-violating operators of the  $X^3$  class, where in order to accommodate the  $\gamma_5$  matrix, we require two-loop diagrams with a light scalar propagator in addition to the heavy fermions.

# 3.2 Unfolding the $\phi^2 X^2$ and $X^3$ operator classes

The schematic manner in which the operators of the  $\phi^2 X^2$  ( $\mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{G}}$ ,  $\mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{W}}$ ,  $\mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{B}}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{W}B}$ ) and  $X^3$  ( $\mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{G}}$ ,  $\mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{W}}$ ) classes can be unfolded into one- and two-loop diagrams respectively, involving two heavy fermions ( $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$ ), is shown in figure 2. The quantum numbers of  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$  can be determined by first identifying the vertices as either  $V_5$  or  $V_7$  and then simultaneously satisfying the relevant relations - eq. (2.1) or (2.2) at each vertex. These constraints have been reiterated below:

$$R_{C_1} \otimes R_{C_2} = 1, \qquad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv G^A_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_C \neq 1, R_{L_1} \otimes R_{L_2} = 2, \qquad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv W^I_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_L \neq 1, Y_1 = Y_2 \pm \frac{1}{2}, \qquad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv B_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow Y \neq 0.$$
(3.4)

The requirement of two heavy fermions can be understood based on the presence of vertices of the  $V_5$  category within each of these diagrams. On top of that, these fermions must be vector-like because the difference between the couplings of the left- and right-chiral parts indicates the violation of CP-symmetry. This is why the parametrisation of the Yukawa coupling constant as  $(a + b\gamma_5)$  with  $a \neq b \neq 0$  is necessary. The projection operators  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{L}}$ ,  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}$  or  $\gamma_5$  project out this exact disparity between the left- and right-chiral sectors. This signature of CP-violation consequently appears within the Wilson coefficients of the aforementioned SMEFT operators.

Operator	Quantum numbers of VLF pairs	References
$\mathcal{Q}_{H ilde{G}},\mathcal{Q}_{ ilde{G}}$	$\{(R_C, 2, Y), (R_C, 1, Y \pm 1/2)\}$	[66, 67]
$\mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{W}}, \mathcal{Q}_{H\tilde{B}}, \mathcal{Q}_{HW\tilde{B}}, \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{W}}$	$\{(1,2,Y), (1,1,Y\pm 1/2)\}, \{(1,3,1), (1,2,1/2)\}$	[63,  64,  67]

**Table 3.** Heavy field representations that have been found to yield CP-violating SMEFT operators after being integrated out along with the works reporting these connections.

#### 3.3 Validation of the results

As described above, our results correspond to SM extensions containing vector-like fermions (VLFs). To substantiate our results, we have inspected recent works that shed light on the physics of UV models containing VLFs. These analyses utilize the *top-down* procedure of integrating out the VLFs to obtain the CP-violating D6 SMEFT operators.

Quantum numbers of the heavy fields that beget individual (CP-violating) operators of the  $\phi^2 X^2$  and  $X^3$  classes, along with references to the works that have studied them, have been mentioned in table 3. A quick inspection of the contents of table 3 reveals that the mentioned heavy field quantum numbers indeed satisfy the constraints outlined in eq. (3.4) and they thus form a subset of our results.

### 4 The bosonic sector at D8

The bosonic sector of SMEFT at mass dimension-8 is constituted by operators containing the SM scalar, its conjugate, their covariant derivative, the field strength tensors corresponding to the gauge groups, and their dual tensors. In our study, we have subdivided these operators into three broad categories:

- 1. Those with only  $\phi \in \{H, H^{\dagger}\}$  and their covariant derivatives as external states.
- 2. Those with  $X_{\mu\nu} \in \{G^A_{\mu\nu}, W^I_{\mu\nu}, B_{\mu\nu}\}$  and their dual tensors as external states.
- 3. Those containing a mix of scalars, their covariant derivatives, field strength tensors and their duals.

Each category has further been subdivided based on the number of derivatives. We have drawn tree-level (*where applicable*), one-loop and two-loop (*where necessary*) diagrams for the various cases, highlighting the heavy field propagators within them. After identifying the vertices appearing in those diagrams, we have shed light on the permitted quantum numbers for the heavy field(s). On account of the fact, that the covariant derivatives do not influence the heavy field quantum numbers, we have not provided any symbolic representation for them in our diagrams. Also, as opposed to listing diagrams exhaustively, taking into account every permutation of the external legs, we have opted to be concise in our presentation by only providing schematic diagrams that encapsulate the information related to multiple operators.



**Figure 3.** Schematic unfolding of  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  classes of D8 SMEFT operators into treelevel diagrams.

#### 4.1 External states: only $\phi$

This category consists of operators belonging to the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  classes. The complete list of independent operators has been catalogued in table 6. We have unfolded these operators, to reveal heavy propagators, in a systematic way starting with tree-level diagrams then proceeding towards one-loop diagrams of different varieties (based on the number of heavy propagators within the loops).

## 4.1.1 Tree-level

Tree-level schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  have been elucidated in figure 3. The set of heavy field quantum numbers can be obtained at the level of the operator class itself by examining the vertices within the diagrams as described below:

1. Figures 3i, 3ii, 3iii are composed of the vertices:  $\{V_1, V_3\}$ ,  $\{V_1, V_3\}$  and  $\{V_3\}$  respectively. Based on the discussion in section 2, we know that  $V_3$  is ubiquitous in all scalar extensions of the SM and permits assigning arbitrary quantum numbers to the heavy field. On the other hand  $V_1$  only permits a finite number of cases, i.e.,

$$\Phi \in \{(1,3,0), (1,1,0), (1,3,1)\}.$$
(4.1)

More concrete connections between specific operators of a given class and distinct heavy quantum numbers can be inferred based on the arrangement of H and  $H^{\dagger}$  at the vertices, which itself is necessitated by the proper contraction of Lorentz indices associated with the derivatives accompanying these fields in the operator in the case of  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  operators.

2. Figures 3iv, 3v are composed of the vertices  $\{V_2, V_3\}$  and  $\{V_2\}$  respectively. Once again, while  $V_3$  permits arbitrary quantum numbers for the heavy field,  $V_2$  leads to



**Figure 4.** One-loop schematic diagrams revealing heavy scalar propagators enveloped within (i)  $\phi^8$ , (ii)  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iii)  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  classes of SMEFT operators.



Figure 5. Schematic diagrams revealing light-heavy fermion mixing incorporated within (i)  $\phi^8$ , (ii)  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iii)  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  classes of SMEFT operators.

only a finite number of cases, i.e.,

$$\Phi \in \left\{ \left(1, 4, \frac{3}{2}\right), \left(1, 2, \frac{3}{2}\right), \left(1, 4, \frac{1}{2}\right), \left(1, 2, \frac{1}{2}\right) \right\}.$$
(4.2)

#### 4.1.2 Heavy-loop

Figure 4 contains one-loop schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  operator classes, where the entire loop is composed of a distinct heavy scalar. The constituent vertex for each diagram is  $V_3$ . The quartic interaction appearing at each vertex of these diagrams encompasses all possible heavy scalars. Therefore, the quantum numbers, in this case, remains arbitrary, i.e.,  $\Phi \in (R_C, R_L, Y)$ .

# 4.1.3 Light-heavy mixing

Figure 5 contains one-loop schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  operator classes, that exhibit mixing between a light (SM) and a heavy fermion. The constituent vertex for each diagram is  $V_4$ . The heavy field quantum numbers can be uniquely determined based on the choice of the light (SM) fermion as illustrated in table 2.



Figure 6. Schematic diagrams revealing heavy-heavy fermion mixing incorporated within (i)  $\phi^8$ , (ii)  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iii)  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$  classes of SMEFT operators.

#### 4.1.4 Heavy-heavy mixing

Figure 6 contains one-loop schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$ operator classes, that exhibit mixing between two heavy fermions. The constituent vertex for each diagram is  $V_5$ . This is a broader generalization of the case depicted in figure 5 and accomodates a wide variety of heavy fermion  $\Psi_{1,2}$  extensions of the SM whose quantum numbers  $(R_{C_{1,2}}, R_{L_{1,2}}, Y_{1,2})$  must satisfy eq. (2.1). There have been ample surveys and discussions around extensions of the SM incorporating such heavy vector-like fermion (VLF) pairs [18, 68–70]. The embedding of VLF pairs within D8 SMEFT operators hints at the significance of these operators in the study of associated phenomenology.

#### 4.2 External states: only $X_{\mu\nu}$

The complete list of independent operators of the  $X^4$  class have been catalogued in table 7. It is noteworthy that unlike its D6 counterpart, i.e., the  $X^3$  class which only contains 4 operators, the  $X^4$  class consists of a wide variety of operators made up of the SM field strength tensors  $G^A_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $W^I_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $B_{\mu\nu}$  as well as their duals. This subdivision has been vividly elucidated in table 7, through proper nomenclature of the operators based on their constituents. Since, we have not taken into account SM extensions with additional gauge bosons, we only come across loop-level diagrams in this case.

Figure 7 shows one-loop as well as two-loop diagrams revealing scalar as well as fermion propagators. The inclusion of two-loop diagrams is necessitated by the operators with an odd number of dual field strength tensors  $(\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu})$ , which contain the signature of CPviolation. These can directly be compared with the contents of figure 2. The allowed heavy field quantum numbers, for each case in figure 7, can be ascertained as follows:

1. Figure 7i: composed of the vertex  $V_6$ . As described in section 2, the heavy scalar quantum numbers  $(R_C, R_L, Y)$  can be arbitrary, but subject to one or more of the following constraints based on the  $X_{\mu\nu}$ 's present within the operator:

$$X_{\mu\nu} \equiv B_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow Y \neq 0, \quad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv W^I_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_L \neq 1, \quad X_{\mu\nu} \equiv G^A_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow R_C \neq 1.$$
(4.3)



**Figure 7.** (i), (ii) One-loop and (iii) two-loop schematic diagrams revealing heavy field propagators enveloped within  $X^4$  class of SMEFT operators.

- 2. Figure 7ii: composed of the vertex  $V_7$ . This is similar to figure 7i but with the scalar loop replaced by a fermion loop. Once again, there is a freedom with respect to quantum number assignment except for a constraint in the form of eq. (4.3) depending on the various  $X_{\mu\nu}$ 's involved in the operator. Since this diagram covers all possible heavy fermion extensions of the SM, we have not separately considered a diagram displaying light-heavy mixing between an SM fermion and a heavy fermion, which is more restrictive to the choice of the heavy fermion.
- 3. Figure 7iii: composed of the vertices  $\{V_5, V_7\}$ . This is a two-loop diagram exhibiting mixing between two heavy fermions and the SM scalar. Similar to figures 2iii and 2iv, this diagram is necessary to accommodate SM extensions with a CP-violating signature. The heavy fermion quantum numbers must satisfy both eqs. (2.1) and (4.3) depending on the field strength tensor(s) in contact.

# 4.3 External states: $\phi$ and $X_{\mu\nu}$

This category consists of operators belonging to the  $\phi^2 X^3$ ,  $\phi^4 X^2$ ,  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  classes. The complete list of independent operators has been catalogued in table 8.

#### 4.3.1 Heavy-loop

Figure 8 contains one-loop schematic diagrams for each of the four operator classes. In each case, the entire loop is composed of a distinct heavy scalar. The constituent vertices for each diagram are  $\{V_3, V_6\}$ . While  $V_3$  permits all heavy scalars with arbitrary quantum numbers  $\Phi \in (R_C, R_L, Y)$ , the presence of the field strength tensors filters out some of the possibilities per eq. (4.3).

#### 4.3.2 Light-heavy mixing

Figure 9 contains one-loop schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^2 X^3$ ,  $\phi^4 X^2$ ,  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ and  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  operator classes, that exhibit mixing between a light (SM) and a heavy fermion. The constituent vertices for each case are  $\{V_4, V_7\}$  as well as interactions between the SM fermions and SM field strength tensors. The heavy field quantum numbers can be uniquely



**Figure 8.** One-loop schematic diagrams revealing heavy field propagators enveloped within (i)  $\phi^2 X^3$ , (ii)  $\phi^4 X^2$ , (iii)  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iv)  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  classes of SMEFT operators.



**Figure 9.** Schematic diagrams revealing light-heavy fermion mixing incorporated within (i)  $\phi^2 X^3$ , (ii)  $\phi^4 X^2$ , (iii)  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iv)  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  classes of SMEFT operators.

determined by first fixing the light fermion within the loop, which allows us to use the results of table 2, followed by filtering them out further by imposing eq. (4.3) at the vertices where the fermions come in contact with the field strength tensors, e.g.,

• If we consider the operator:  $Q_{W^2BH^2}^{(1)} \equiv \epsilon^{IJK} (H^{\dagger} \tau^I H) B_{\mu}^{\nu} W_{\nu}^{J\rho} W_{\rho}^{K\mu}$  of the  $\phi^2 X^3$  class and examine the first sub-figure within Figure 9i, we see that the light fermion is in direct contact with the  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$  as well as the  $\mathrm{U}(1)_Y$  field strength tensors. This filters out those SM fermions that transform trivially under  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ , i.e.,  $u_R \in (3, 1, \frac{2}{3})$ ,  $d_R \in (3, 1, -\frac{1}{3})$ , and  $e_R \in (1, 1, -1)$ . Therefore, the fields that participate in light-



Figure 10. Schematic diagrams revealing heavy-heavy fermion mixing incorporated within (i)  $\phi^2 X^3$ , (ii)  $\phi^4 X^2$ , (iii)  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ , and (iv)  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  classes of SMEFT operators.

heavy mixing in the loop are:

(i) 
$$\psi = l_L \in \left(1, 2, -\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad \Psi \in \{(1, 1, 0), (1, 3, 0), (1, 1, 1), (1, 3, 1)\};$$
  
(ii)  $\psi = q_L \in \left(3, 2, \frac{1}{6}\right), \quad \Psi \in \left\{\left(\bar{3}, 1, -\frac{2}{3}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 3, -\frac{2}{3}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 1, \frac{1}{3}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 3, \frac{1}{3}\right)\right\}.$ 
(4.4)

On the other hand, focussing on the second sub-figure in figure 9i, since the heavy fermion is in direct contact with the field strength tensors, there are no restrictions with respect to the selection of the SM fermion but the heavy field choices are curtailed and fields that are either  $SU(2)_L$  singlets and (or) carry a zero hypercharge are excluded. The permitted combinations of light and heavy fields in the loop are:

$$(i) \quad \psi = l_L \in \left(1, 2, -\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad \Psi \in \{(1, 3, 1)\}; \\(ii) \quad \psi = q_L \in \left(3, 2, \frac{1}{6}\right), \quad \Psi \in \left\{\left(\bar{3}, 3, -\frac{2}{3}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 3, \frac{1}{3}\right)\right\}; \\(iii) \quad \psi = e_R \in (1, 1, -1), \quad \Psi \in \left\{\left(1, 2, \frac{1}{2}\right), \left(1, 2, \frac{3}{2}\right)\right\}; \\(iv) \quad \psi = u_R \in \left(3, 1, \frac{2}{3}\right), \quad \Psi \in \left\{\left(\bar{3}, 2, -\frac{7}{6}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 2, -\frac{1}{6}\right)\right\}; \\(v) \quad \psi = d_R \in \left(3, 1, -\frac{1}{3}\right), \quad \Psi \in \left\{\left(\bar{3}, 2, -\frac{1}{6}\right), \left(\bar{3}, 2, \frac{5}{6}\right)\right\}.$$
(4.5)

While the two diagrams together encompass all the combinations listed in table 2, such nuances are vital for establishing concrete relations between the effective operators and the heavy fields.

#### 4.3.3 Heavy-heavy mixing

Figure 10 contains one-loop schematic diagrams corresponding to the  $\phi^2 X^3$ ,  $\phi^4 X^2$ ,  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ and  $\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$  operator classes, exhibiting mixing between two heavy fermions in the loop. The constituent vertices for each case are  $\{V_5, V_7\}$ . This case permits a plethora of heavy field quantum numbers but each of those must satisfy eq. (2.1) as well as eq. (4.3) at the appropriate vertices. These diagrams are necessary to account for the CP-violating operators and the heavy fermions have the characteristics of vector-like fermions.

#### 4.4 Validation of the results

Below we provide a discussion on how the results catalogued so far can be validated against the *top-down* EFT methodology. We will elucidate how D8 operators made up of the SM Higgs, its conjugate and their derivatives originate after **heavy scalar** fields are integrated out. The starting point for this approach is the following schematic Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}[\chi,\phi] = B(\phi)^{\dagger}\chi + h.c. + \frac{1}{2}\chi^{T} (P^{2} - M^{2} - U(\phi))\chi + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^{3}), \qquad (4.6)$$

where  $\chi$  denotes a generic heavy scalar field,  $\phi$  denotes the light fields collectively but for simplicity we shall infer it as the SM Higgs boson.  $P_{\mu} \equiv i \mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  and B, U are functions of the light fields.

**Tree-level.** Effective operators at tree-level are generated by substituting the classical solution of the heavy field equation of motion<sup>4</sup> ( $\chi_c$ ) back into the Lagrangian. After the covariant derivative expansion the effective Lagrangian at tree-level assumes the form [20]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{tree}}^{\text{eff}} = B^{\dagger} \frac{1}{M^2} B + B^{\dagger} \frac{1}{M^2} (P^2 - U) \frac{1}{M^2} B + B^{\dagger} \frac{1}{M^2} (P^2 - U) \frac{1}{M^2} (P^2 - U) \frac{1}{M^2} B + \dots$$
(4.7)

The term containing B in the Lagrangian refers to interactions which are linear with respect to the heavy field but contain multiple light fields. In terms of the terminology established in this article, these correspond to the vertices  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  shown in figure 1. Only a finite number of heavy scalar extensions of the SM permit such a term in the Lagrangian [20] and these are:

$$\Phi \in \left\{ (1,1,0), (1,3,0), (1,3,1), \left(1,2,\frac{1}{2}\right), \left(1,4,\frac{1}{2}\right), \left(1,2,\frac{3}{2}\right), \left(1,4,\frac{3}{2}\right) \right\}.$$
(4.8)

The term proportional to U in the Lagrangian, on the other hand describes an interaction which is quadratic in both light and heavy fields. This is akin the vertex  $V_3$ and is ubiquitous across all single heavy scalar extensions irrespective to their quantum numbers. In fact,  $U(\phi) \equiv U(H, H^{\dagger}) = H^{\dagger} H$ . Based on the various combinations of B and U, the origin of SMEFT operators through the different terms of eq. (4.7) can be understood. A couple of illustrative examples demonstrating the origin of D8 SMEFT operators within this formalism have been summarized in table 4. These relations between heavy field quantum numbers and SMEFT operator classes exactly match the ones established through tree-level diagrammatic unfolding for the  $\phi^8$ ,  $\phi^6 D^2$  and  $\phi^4 D^4$  operator classes as part of our analysis.

<sup>4</sup>The classical solution  $\chi_c$  solves the Euler-Lagrange equation:  $\left. \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \chi} \right|_{\chi = \chi_c} = 0.$ 

Φ	Interaction terms	Effective operators	Op. class
(1,1,0)	$\underbrace{c_1\left(H^{\dagger}H\right)}\Phi,$	$\frac{1}{M^6} (B^{\dagger} U U B) \rightarrow \frac{c_1^2}{M^6} (H^{\dagger} H)^4$	$\phi^8$
	$\overbrace{(H^{\dagger}H)}^{B} \Phi^{2}$	$\frac{1}{M^6} (B^{\dagger} P^2 U B) \rightarrow \frac{c_1^2}{M^6} (H^{\dagger} H) \Box (H^{\dagger} H)^2$	$\phi^6 {\cal D}^2$
	U	$\frac{1}{M^6} (B^{\dagger} P^2 P^2 B) \to \frac{c_1^2}{M^6} (H^{\dagger} H) [\Box (H^{\dagger} H)]^2$	$\phi^4 {\cal D}^4$
$(1,4,\frac{3}{2})$	$\underbrace{(H^iH^jH^k)}_B \Phi^{\dagger}_{ijk},$	$\frac{1}{M^4} (B^{\dagger} U B) \rightarrow \frac{1}{M^4} (H^{\dagger} H)^4$	$\phi^8$
	$\underbrace{(H_i^\dagger H^i)}_U \Phi_{jkl}^\dagger \Phi^{jkl} + {\tt perm.}$	$\frac{1}{M^4} (B^{\dagger} P^2 B) \rightarrow \frac{1}{M^4} (H^{\dagger} H) \Box (H^{\dagger} H)^2$	$\phi^6 {\cal D}^2$

**Table 4.** Origin of D8 SMEFT operators through tree-level integrating out from UV models containing (i) a real singlet scalar  $\Phi \in (1, 1, 0)$  and (ii) an  $SU(2)_L$  quadruplet  $\Phi \in (1, 4, \frac{3}{2})$ . Here, i, j, k, l refer to SU(2) indices and in the last row "perm." refers to the possible permutations of these indices.

**One-loop-level.** To discuss the integration out of heavy fields at one-loop-level we have adopted the covariant diagram approach of ref. [71] and we have focussed only on the  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$ operator class. Reiterating the fact that  $P_{\mu} \equiv i\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  and  $U = (H^{\dagger}H)$  across single heavy scalar extensions of SM with arbitrary  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  quantum numbers, i.e.,  $\Phi \in (R_C, R_L, Y)$ , we can refer to operators of the  $\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2$  class as  $P^2 U^3$  in the language of ref. [71].

The covariant diagram consisting of only scalar heavy particles in the loop along with two  $P_{\mu}$  insertions and three U insertions is shown below:



Adjacent to the covariant diagram, we have also noted the corresponding effective operator using the conventions of ref. [71]. This can be re-written as  $C^{(\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2)}$ tr  $(U[P_{\mu}, U][P^{\mu}, U])$ , and  $C^{(\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2)} = -i c_s (2)^2 I[q^2]_i^5$  contributes to the Wilson coefficient. Here,  $c_s$  depends on the type of the heavy field in the loop (e.g.,  $c_s = 1/2$  for real scalar fields.), and

$$I[q^2]_i^5 = \int \frac{d^d q}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{q^2}{(q^2 - M_i^2)^5} = \frac{1}{12 M_i^4}.$$
(4.9)

The *i* in the subscript on the left hand side marks the variety of propagators in the covariant diagram. The loop factor  $I[q^2]_i^5$  can be evaluated using tools such as PackageX [72]. For a comprehensive discussion, we refer the reader to [71]. The noteworthy point is that such covariant diagrams can be drawn for any heavy scalar, hence leading to the same family of SMEFT operators. Thus, our results for the unfolding of operators consisting of the SM Higgs, it's conjugate and their derivatives into one-loop diagrams constituted of a single heavy scalar can be corroborated.

#### 5 Common origin of subsets of D6 and D8 operators

The search for clues of new physics, within D8 SMEFT operators, is slowly becoming a focal point of contemporary phenomenological as well as experimental research. As we take the next stride in probing beyond the Standard Model, we must be mindful of the subtleties as well as overarching patterns evident across operators of different mass dimensions. Even when restricting ourselves to the purely bosonic operators, a comparison with the results of [40] reveals clear connections between the UV origin of D6 and D8 SMEFT operators. In what follows, we have underlined these connections as well as the subtleties involved when studying operators of dimensions-6 and -8 together.

• Direct comparison between the results for D6 operator classes catalogued in [40] and section 3 of this work and those of D8, as discussed in section 4 that differ only by  $\phi^2 \equiv (H^{\dagger}H)$  reveals common UV origin for pairs of D6, D8 classes, e.g.,

$$(\phi^6, \phi^8); \quad (\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^2, \phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2); \quad (\phi^2 X^2, \phi^4 X^2).$$
 (5.1)

This is not surprising as the additional  $\phi^2$  piece is an overall singlet. Therefore, the pairs of operator classes in eq. (5.1) exhibit successive orders of perturbation theory and provide corrections to the same SM processes, most notably the electroweak precision observables. The corrections are weighted by powers of  $(v/\Lambda)^{2n}$ , with n = 1 and 2 for dimensions-6 and -8 respectively.

• On the other hand, operator classes that differ by a single  $X_{\mu\nu}$ , which also increases the mass dimension by 2, do not necessarily share the same origin. For instance, the  $X^3$  class contains only two types of operators, one trilinear in  $W^I_{\mu\nu}$  and the other in  $G^A_{\mu\nu}$ . They enforce the constraint of non-triviality of the SU(2)<sub>L</sub> and SU(3)<sub>C</sub> representations of the heavy field respectively. The  $X^4$  class not only contains operators describing self-interactions of  $B_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $W^I_{\mu\nu}$  and  $G^A_{\mu\nu}$  but also various mixed cases. Operators of the latter sub-category impose additional constraints on the heavy field quantum numbers. This underlines the significance of D8 operators for discriminating between UV models that furnish similar results at D6.

These associations between D6 and D8 operators and their shared UV origin also serve to streamline any phenomenological analysis involving them. This is because the Wilson coefficients of all the operators generated after integrating out a particular heavy field are functions of the same finite number of parameters, irrespective of whether they belong to D6 or D8 classes. This way, *top-down* analyses, informed by the results of this work, can be extended to account for D8 operators without worrying about an unmanageable number of free parameters. Such a luxury cannot be ensured in *bottom-up* analyses, where free parameters start to proliferate as the mass-dimension increases. This has been the main source of scepticism regarding the incorporation of D8 operators for statistical analyses of experimental data. A few areas where D8 operators have gained a lot of prominence have been described below:

• Operator classes such as,  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$ ,  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$ ,  $X^4$ , etc. encapsulate vertices relevant for vector boson scattering (VBS) processes [73–79]. Interactions involving only the charged electroweak gauge bosons  $(W^+, W^-)$  and those involving charged as well as neutral gauge bosons  $(Z, \gamma)$  manifest within the SM Lagrangian itself. But, trilinear and quartic interactions within the neutral sector are scarce. The relevant vertices are first encountered within D8 operators. A hint of such processes will certainly widen the scope for new physics.

Also, owing to their common UV origin, D8 operators, (e.g.,  $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^4$ ) enveloping such rare processes will always be accompanied by D6 operators ( $\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^2$  in this case) that contribute to observables such as Higgs signal strength (HSS). Therefore, studying the rare variety of VBS in tandem with HSS could provide better exclusion limits on the parameter space for the BSM proposal.

Constraints can be enforced on BSM physics based on electroweak precision data (EWPD) in terms of the oblique (S, T, U) parameters. The first two receive contributions from D6 operators. The U parameter, on the other hand, receives a vanishing contribution at D6. It obtains non-zero contributions only at mass dimension-8 [9, 49]. The operator classes that affect these parameters have been highlighted below:

$$S \to \underbrace{\phi^2 X^2}_{D6}, \ \underbrace{\phi^4 X^2}_{D8}; \qquad T \to \underbrace{\phi^4 \mathcal{D}^2}_{D6}, \ \underbrace{\phi^6 \mathcal{D}^2}_{D8}; \qquad U \to \underbrace{\phi^4 X^2}_{D8}. \tag{5.2}$$

Naively, one may assume that the  $\phi^4 X^2$  class only serves as the next-order contributor to observables affected by the  $\phi^2 X^2$  operators as suggested by the discourse around eq. (5.1). But eq. (5.2) elucidates how the D8 classes can be leading order contributors for certain observables and thus supply novel means of distinguishing between BSM proposals.

• The unfolding of the CP-violating subsets of operators requires pairs of heavy vectorlike fermions. The signature of the violation is found in Yukawa-like interactions with a  $\gamma_5$  matrix present at the vertices. This pattern occurs across both D6 and D8 operators as demonstrated in this work. For instance, the VLF pair possessing the following quantum numbers:

$$\Psi_{L,R}^{(1)} \in (1,3,1) \quad \text{and} \quad \Psi_{L,R}^{(2)} \in \left(1,2,\frac{1}{2}\right),$$
(5.3)

generate the CP-violating subsets of the  $\phi^2 X^2$  and  $X^3$  operator classes at D6. Simultaneously, these also generate CP-violating operators belonging to the  $\phi^4 X^2$ ,  $\phi^2 X^3$ ,  $\phi^2 X^2 \mathcal{D}^2$  and  $X^4$  classes at D8. A scrupulous investigation into the phenomena of CP-violation would necessitate the inclusion of dimension-8 operators.

Thus, operators at mass dimension-8 are significant not just as the next order contributors to SM processes or to bolster the predictions of dimension-6 SMEFT operators but also as purveyors of novel and esoteric phenomena.

## 6 Conclusion

In this work, we have assembled a catalogue of admissible quantum numbers for heavy scalars and fermions that can generate specific subsets of SMEFT operators. We have subjected purely bosonic, CP-violating operators of mass dimension-6 and all purely bosonic operators of dimension-8 to an elaborate unfolding procedure. It commences with the identification of Lorentz invariant vertices describing interactions between heavy and light fields. These vertices are then employed to build tree-level as well as loop-level diagrams with the same external legs as the SMEFT operator classes. The operation culminates with the identification of one or more heavy propagators within those diagrams. We have adhered to a notion of conciseness in our discussion by restricting to descriptions at the level of operator class in most cases and we have delved into detailed examples only for a few pertinent scenarios. We have vividly highlighted recurrent patterns across different operator classes as well as the nuances present within operators with the similar constitution.

We have validated our findings through direct comparison with the results of *top-down* analyses that generate CP-violating SMEFT operators from models containing vector-like fermions. We have also surveyed how heavy scalar loops can engender SMEFT operators with bosonic legs within the covariant diagram approach.

By studying the parallels as well as the disparity between the ways in which operators of dimensions-6 and -8 originate from UV models, we have accentuated the significance of the latter for current as well as future phenomenological analyses dedicated to the search for new physics. We have shed light on the firm ties between CP-violation in SMEFT and extensions of the SM through the inclusion of vector-like fermions. We have also elucidated the role of dimension-8 operators as the radix of atypical phenomena such as the scattering of neutral electroweak gauge bosons through trilinear and quartic vertices. We have underlined the significance of conducting investigations into these rare phenomena in conjunction with the study of high precision observables for pinpointing the most appropriate beyond the Standard Model scenario.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the discussions with Joydeep Chakrabortty. SR is supported by the MHRD, Government of India. SP is supported by the MHRD, Government of India, under the Prime Minister's Research Fellows (PMRF) Scheme, 2020.

## A The Standard Model field content and Lagrangian

The Standard Model degrees of freedom along with their representations under the  $SU(3)_C$ and  $SU(2)_L$  groups, their respective  $U(1)_Y$  hypercharges, baryon and lepton numbers and their spins have been collected in table 5.

Field	$SU(3)_C$	$\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$	$U(1)_Y$	Baryon No.	Lepton No.	Spin
H	1	2	1/2	0	0	0
$q_L^p$	3	2	1/6	1/3	0	1/2
$u_R^p$	3	1	2/3	1/3	0	1/2
$d_R^p$	3	1	-1/3	1/3	0	1/2
$l_L^p$	1	2	-1/2	0	-1	1/2
$e_R^p$	1	1	-1	0	-1	1/2
$G^A_\mu$	8	1	0	0	0	1
$W^I_\mu$	1	3	0	0	0	1
$B_{\mu}$	1	1	0	0	0	1

**Table 5.** Standard Model: gauge and global quantum numbers and spins of the fields. Here,  $A = 1, 2, \dots, 8$ ; I = 1, 2, 3; p = 1, 2, 3 and  $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$  refer to the SU(3), SU(2), flavour and Lorentz indices respectively.

## **B** Pure bosonic dimension-8 operators

The complete list of purely bosonic SMEFT operators of mass dimension-8 have been presented in tables 6-8. These were first constructed in [9, 10].

$1:\phi^8$		_	$2:\phi^6\mathcal{D}^2$		$3:\phi^4\mathcal{D}^4$
$Q_{H^8}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^4$	$Q_{H^6}^{(1)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H)$	$Q_{H^4}^{(1)}$	$(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H)$
		$Q_{H^6}^{(2)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H)$	$Q_{H^4}^{(2)}$	$(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)$
				$Q_{H^4}^{(3)}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}H)$

**Table 6.** The dimension-8 SMEFT operators with only the SM scalar, its conjugate and their derivatives as the building blocks.

$4 \cdot \Lambda \cdot \Lambda \Lambda$
---

 $4:X^2X'^2$ 

$Q_{G^4}^{(1)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}G^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(1)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{I\mu\nu})(G^{A}_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(2)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{G}^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(2)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{W}^{I\mu\nu})(G^{A}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(3)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{B\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}G^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(3)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(4)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{G}^{B\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(4)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{G}^{A\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(5)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(5)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{W}^{I\mu\nu})(G^{A}_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(6)}$	$(G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{B\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{B\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(6)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{I\mu\nu})(G^{A}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(7)}$	$d^{ABE} d^{CDE} (G^A_{\mu\nu} G^{B\mu\nu}) (G^C_{\rho\sigma} G^{D\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2W^2}^{(7)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(8)}$	$d^{ABE} d^{CDE} (G^A_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{G}^{B\mu\nu}) (G^C_{\rho\sigma} \widetilde{G}^{D\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(1)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^4}^{(9)}$	$d^{ABE} d^{CDE} (G^A_{\mu\nu} G^{B\mu\nu}) (G^C_{\rho\sigma} \tilde{G}^{D\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(2)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(1)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{I\mu\nu})(W^{J}_{\rho\sigma}W^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(3)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(2)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu u}\widetilde{W}^{I\mu u})(W^{J}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(4)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{G}^{A\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(3)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{J\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}W^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(5)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}G^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(4)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{W}^{J\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(6)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu})(G^A_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(5)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu u}W^{I\mu u})(W^{J}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{G^2B^2}^{(7)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{A\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{W^4}^{(6)}$	$(W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{J\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{J\rho\sigma})$	$Q^{(1)}_{W^2B^2}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}W^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{B^4}^{(1)}$	$(B_{\mu u}B^{\mu u})(B_{ ho\sigma}B^{ ho\sigma})$	$Q^{(2)}_{W^2B^2}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu})(W^I_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{B^4}^{(2)}$	$(B_{\mu u}\widetilde{B}^{\mu u})(B_{ ho\sigma}\widetilde{B}^{ ho\sigma})$	$Q^{(3)}_{W^2B^2}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}W^{I\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}W^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{B^4}^{(3)}$	$(B_{\mu u}B^{\mu u})(B_{ ho\sigma}\widetilde{B}^{ ho\sigma})$	$Q^{(4)}_{W^2B^2}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{W}^{I\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^{3}B}^{(1)}$	$d^{ABC}(B_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}G^{C\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{W^2B^2}^{(5)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}W^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q^{(2)}_{G^{3}B}$	$d^{ABC}(B_{\mu\nu}\tilde{G}^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}\tilde{G}^{C\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{W^2B^2}^{(6)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu})(W^{I}_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^{3}B}^{(3)}$	$d^{ABC}(B_{\mu\nu}\tilde{G}^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}G^{C\rho\sigma})$	$Q_{W^2B^2}^{(7)}$	$(B_{\mu\nu}W^{I\mu\nu})(B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{W}^{I\rho\sigma})$
$Q_{G^{3}B}^{(4)}$	$d^{ABC}(B_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu})(G^B_{\rho\sigma}\widetilde{G}^{C\rho\sigma})$		

 Table 7. The dimension-8 SMEFT operators constituted only of field strength tensors.

CI
I
円
Ю
$\bigcirc$
$\odot$
$\frown$
$\mathbb{N}$
$\bigcirc$
$\mathbb{N}$
$\mathbb{N}$
$\smile$
$\vdash$
9
$\bigcirc$

	$5:\phi^2 X^3$		$6:\phi^4X^2$
$Q^{(1)}_{G^3H^2}$	$f^{ABC}(H^{\dagger}H)G^{A\nu}_{\mu}G^{B\rho}_{\nu}G^{C\mu}_{\rho}$	$Q_{G^2H}^{(1)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 G^A_{\mu\nu} G^{A\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(2)}_{G^3H^2}$	$f^{ABC}(H^{\dagger}H)G^{A\nu}_{\mu}G^{B\rho}_{\nu}\widetilde{G}^{C\mu}_{\rho}$	$Q^{(2)}_{G^2H}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 \widetilde{G}^A_{\mu\nu} G^{A\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(1)}_{W^3H^2}$	$\epsilon^{IJK}(H^{\dagger}H)W^{I\nu}_{\mu}W^{J\rho}_{\nu}W^{K\mu}_{\rho}$	$Q_{W^2H}^{(1)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 W^I_{\mu\nu} W^{I\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(2)}_{W^3H^2}$	$\epsilon^{IJK}(H^{\dagger}H)W^{I\nu}_{\mu}W^{J\rho}_{\nu}\widetilde{W}^{K\mu}_{\rho}$	$Q_{W^2H}^{(2)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 \widetilde{W}^I_{\mu\nu} W^{I\mu\nu}$
$Q_{W^2BH^2}^{(1)}$	$\epsilon^{IJK} (H^{\dagger} \tau^{I} H) B^{\nu}_{\mu} W^{J\rho}_{\nu} W^{K\mu}_{\rho}$	$Q^{(3)}_{W^2 H}$	$(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)(H^{\dagger}\tau^{J}H)W^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{J\mu\nu}$
$Q_{W^2BH^2}^{(2)}$	$\epsilon^{IJK}(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)(\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}W^{J}_{\nu\rho}W^{K\rho}_{\mu}+B^{\mu\nu}W^{J}_{\nu\rho}\widetilde{W}^{K\rho}_{\mu})$	$Q_{W^2H}^{(4)}$	$(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)(H^{\dagger}\tau^{J}H)\widetilde{W}^{I}_{\mu\nu}W^{J\mu\nu}$
		$Q_{WBH}^{(1)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)W^{I}_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu}$
		$Q_{WBH}^{(2)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}H)\widetilde{W}^{I}_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu}$
		$Q_{B^2H}^{(1)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$
		$Q_{B^2H}^{(2)}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)^2 \widetilde{B}_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$
	$7:\phi^2X^2\mathcal{D}^2$		$8:\phi^4 X \mathcal{D}^2$
$Q^{(1)}_{G^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)G^{A}_{\mu\rho}G^{A\rho}_{\nu}$	$Q^{(1)}_{WH^4\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)W^{I}_{\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(2)}_{G^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)G^{A}_{\nu ho}G^{A u ho}$	$Q^{(2)}_{WH^4\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)\widetilde{W}^{I}_{\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(3)}_{G^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)G^{A}_{\nu ho}\widetilde{G}^{A u ho}$	$Q_{WH^4\mathcal{D}^2}^{(3)}$	$\epsilon^{IJK} (H^{\dagger} \tau^{I} H) (\mathcal{D}^{\mu} H^{\dagger} \tau^{J} \mathcal{D}^{\nu} H) W^{K}_{\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(1)}_{W^2 H^2 \mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)W^{I}_{\mu ho}W^{I ho}_{ u}$	$Q_{WH^4\mathcal{D}^2}^{(4)}$	$\epsilon^{IJK} (H^{\dagger} \tau^{I} H) (\mathcal{D}^{\mu} H^{\dagger} \tau^{J} \mathcal{D}^{\nu} H) \widetilde{W}_{\mu\nu}^{K}$
$Q^{(2)}_{W^2 H^2 \mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)W^{I}_{\nu ho}W^{I u ho}$	$Q^{(1)}_{BH^4\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)B_{\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(3)}_{W^2 H^2 \mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)W^{I}_{\nu ho}\widetilde{W}^{I\nu ho}$	$Q^{(2)}_{BH^4\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(H^{\dagger}H)(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)\widetilde{B}_{\mu\nu}$
$Q^{(4)}_{W^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$i\epsilon^{IJK} (\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)W^{J}_{\mu\rho}W^{K\rho}_{\nu}$		
$Q^{(5)}_{W^2 H^2 \mathcal{D}^2}$	$\epsilon^{IJK} (\mathcal{D}^{\mu} H^{\dagger} \tau^{I} \mathcal{D}^{\nu} H) (W^{J}_{\mu\rho} \widetilde{W}^{K\rho}_{\nu} - \widetilde{W}^{J}_{\mu\rho} W^{K\rho}_{\nu})$		
$Q^{(6)}_{W^2 H^2 \mathcal{D}^2}$	$i\epsilon^{IJK} (\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H) (W^{J}_{\mu\rho}\widetilde{W}^{K\rho}_{\nu} + \widetilde{W}^{J}_{\mu\rho}W^{K\rho}_{\nu})$		
$Q^{(1)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)B_{\nu\rho}W^{I\nu\rho}$		
$Q^{(2)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)B_{\nu ho}\widetilde{W}^{I u ho}$		
$Q^{(3)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$i(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)(B_{\mu\rho}W_{\nu}^{I\rho}-B_{\nu\rho}W_{\mu}^{I\rho})$		
$Q^{(4)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)(B_{\mu\rho}W_{\nu}^{I\rho}+B_{\nu\rho}W_{\mu}^{I\rho})$		
$Q^{(5)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$i(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)(B_{\mu\rho}\widetilde{W}_{\nu}^{I\rho}-B_{\nu\rho}\widetilde{W}_{\mu}^{I\rho})$		
$Q^{(6)}_{WBH^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\tau^{I}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)(B_{\mu\rho}\widetilde{W}_{\nu}^{I\rho}+B_{\nu\rho}\widetilde{W}_{\mu}^{I\rho})$		
$Q^{(1)}_{B^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}^{\nu}H)B_{\mu ho}B_{\nu}^{\  ho}$		
$Q^{(2)}_{B^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)B_{ u ho}B^{ u ho}$		
$Q^{(3)}_{B^2H^2\mathcal{D}^2}$	$(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}H)B_{ u ho}\widetilde{B}^{ u ho}$		

**Table 8.** Bosonic dimension-8 operators in the SMEFT containing both field strength tensors andHiggs boson fields.



Figure 11. Vertices describing interactions between (i) the SM scalar and two distinct heavy scalars (ii) two SM fermions and a heavy scalar and (iii) an SM fermion and a heavy scalar as well as a heavy fermion.

#### C Additional vertices describing interactions of SM and BSM fields

In addition to the fundamental vertices elucidated in figure 1 that form the building blocks of the diagrams illustrated in this article, there are a few more ways in which the SM fields can interact with heavy scalars and (or) fermions. These scenarios have been depicted in figure 11. The reasons behind the exclusion of each of these interactions, as well as diagrams from our discussion, can be summarized as follows:

1.  $V_8$ : such a vertex does not uniquely fix the quantum numbers of the two heavy scalars  $\Phi_{1,2} \in (R_{C_{1,2}}, R_{L_{1,2}}, Y_{1,2})$ . As a matter of fact, we can only impose the following constraints on their quantum numbers:

$$R_{C_1} \otimes R_{C_2} = 1, \qquad R_{L_1} \otimes R_{L_2} = 2, \qquad Y_1 = Y_2 \pm \frac{1}{2}$$
 (C.1)

1

with + or - in the last relation appearing based on whether  $\phi = H^{\dagger}$  or H is present at the vertex. Among the operators considered in this work, H and  $H^{\dagger}$  appear together. If the diagrams are unfolded into one-loop diagrams using such vertices, they then essentially predict a two scalar extension of the SM to describe the origin of the particular operator. On the other hand, by working with diagrams containing the vertex  $V_3$ , we limit ourselves to the more minimal case of single-particle extensions of the SM to describe the source of the same operator.

- 2.  $V_9$ : since our focus is on SMEFT operators, the external states are always described by SM degrees of freedom. This vertex could only be accommodated if we had taken into account operators composed of SM fermions, but when we restrict ourselves to the purely bosonic sector, such a vertex offers no contributions to any of the diagrams.
- 3.  $V_{10}$ : similar to the case of  $V_9$ , the exclusion of this vertex from the main discussion is explained by the absence of SM fermions as external states of the operators considered in this work.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP<sup>3</sup> supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

#### References

- ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1
   [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [2] CMS collaboration, Observation of a New Boson at a Mass of 125 GeV with the CMS Experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Weinberg, Effective Gauge Theories, Phys. Lett. B 91 (1980) 51 [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Georgi, Effective field theory, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 43 (1993) 209 [INSPIRE].
- [5] I. Brivio and M. Trott, The Standard Model as an Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rept. 793 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1706.08945] [INSPIRE].
- [6] W. Buchmüller and D. Wyler, Effective lagrangian analysis of new interactions and flavour conservation, Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986) 621.
- [7] B. Grzadkowski, M. Iskrzynski, M. Misiak and J. Rosiek, Dimension-Six Terms in the Standard Model Lagrangian, JHEP 10 (2010) 085 [arXiv:1008.4884] [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Lehman, Extending the Standard Model Effective Field Theory with the Complete Set of Dimension-7 Operators, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 125023 [arXiv:1410.4193] [INSPIRE].
- C.W. Murphy, Dimension-8 operators in the Standard Model Eective Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2020) 174 [arXiv:2005.00059] [INSPIRE].
- [10] H.-L. Li, Z. Ren, J. Shu, M.-L. Xiao, J.-H. Yu and Y.-H. Zheng, Complete set of dimension-eight operators in the standard model effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 015026 [arXiv:2005.00008] [INSPIRE].
- H.-L. Li, Z. Ren, M.-L. Xiao, J.-H. Yu and Y.-H. Zheng, Complete set of dimension-nine operators in the standard model effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 015025
   [arXiv:2007.07899] [INSPIRE].
- [12] Y. Liao and X.-D. Ma, An explicit construction of the dimension-9 operator basis in the standard model effective field theory, JHEP 11 (2020) 152 [arXiv:2007.08125] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G. Buchalla, A.J. Buras and M.E. Lautenbacher, Weak decays beyond leading logarithms, Rev. Mod. Phys. 68 (1996) 1125 [hep-ph/9512380] [INSPIRE].
- [14] L. Calibbi and G. Signorelli, Charged Lepton Flavour Violation: An Experimental and Theoretical Introduction, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 41 (2018) 71 [arXiv:1709.00294] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Weinberg, Baryon and Lepton Nonconserving Processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 1566 [INSPIRE].
- [16] T. Hambye and J. Heeck, Proton decay into charged leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 171801 [arXiv:1712.04871] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Kobach, Baryon Number, Lepton Number, and Operator Dimension in the Standard Model, Phys. Lett. B 758 (2016) 455 [arXiv:1604.05726] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G.C. Branco and L. Lavoura, On the Addition of Vector Like Quarks to the Standard Model, Nucl. Phys. B 278 (1986) 738 [INSPIRE].
- [19] J.M. Yang and B.-L. Young, Dimension-six CP-violating operators of the third family quarks and their effects at colliders, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 5907 [hep-ph/9703463] [INSPIRE].

- [20] B. Henning, X. Lu and H. Murayama, How to use the Standard Model effective field theory, JHEP 01 (2016) 023 [arXiv:1412.1837] [INSPIRE].
- [21] U. Haisch, M. Ruhdorfer, E. Salvioni, E. Venturini and A. Weiler, Singlet night in Feynman-ville: one-loop matching of a real scalar, JHEP 04 (2020) 164 [Erratum ibid. 07 (2020) 066] [arXiv:2003.05936] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Jiang, N. Craig, Y.-Y. Li and D. Sutherland, Complete one-loop matching for a singlet scalar in the Standard Model EFT, JHEP 02 (2019) 031 [Erratum ibid. 01 (2021) 135] [arXiv:1811.08878] [INSPIRE].
- [23] V. Gherardi, D. Marzocca and E. Venturini, Matching scalar leptoquarks to the SMEFT at one loop, JHEP 07 (2020) 225 [Erratum ibid. 01 (2021) 006] [arXiv:2003.12525] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J. de Blas, J.C. Criado, M. Pérez-Victoria and J. Santiago, Effective description of general extensions of the Standard Model: the complete tree-level dictionary, JHEP 03 (2018) 109 [arXiv:1711.10391] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. de Blas, M. Chala, M. Pérez-Victoria and J. Santiago, Observable Effects of General New Scalar Particles, JHEP 04 (2015) 078 [arXiv:1412.8480] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M.S. Bilenky and A. Santamaria, One loop effective Lagrangian for a standard model with a heavy charged scalar singlet, Nucl. Phys. B 420 (1994) 47 [hep-ph/9310302] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Dawson and C.W. Murphy, Standard Model EFT and Extended Scalar Sectors, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 015041 [arXiv:1704.07851] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Dedes and K. Mantzaropoulos, Universal scalar leptoquark action for matching, JHEP 11 (2021) 166 [arXiv:2108.10055] [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Das Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty and S.K. Patra, CoDEx: Wilson coefficient calculator connecting SMEFT to UV theory, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 21 [arXiv:1808.04403] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.C. Criado, MatchingTools: a Python library for symbolic effective field theory calculations, Comput. Phys. Commun. 227 (2018) 42 [arXiv:1710.06445] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Cohen, X. Lu and Z. Zhang, STrEAMlining EFT Matching, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 098 [arXiv:2012.07851] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Carmona, A. Lazopoulos, P. Olgoso and J. Santiago, Matchmakereft: automated tree-level and one-loop matching, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 198 [arXiv:2112.10787] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Fuentes-Martin, M. König, J. Pagès, A.E. Thomsen and F. Wilsch, SuperTracer: A Calculator of Functional Supertraces for One-Loop EFT Matching, JHEP 04 (2021) 281 [arXiv:2012.08506] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. Ellis, C.W. Murphy, V. Sanz and T. You, Updated Global SMEFT Fit to Higgs, Diboson and Electroweak Data, JHEP 06 (2018) 146 [arXiv:1803.03252] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Dawson and P.P. Giardino, *Electroweak and QCD corrections to Z and W pole observables* in the standard model EFT, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 013001 [arXiv:1909.02000] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Dawson, S. Homiller and S.D. Lane, Putting standard model EFT fits to work, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 055012 [arXiv:2007.01296] [INSPIRE].
- [37] I. Brivio et al., O new physics, where art thou? A global search in the top sector, JHEP 02 (2020) 131 [arXiv:1910.03606] [INSPIRE].

- [38] H.-L. Li, Y.-H. Ni, M.-L. Xiao and J.-H. Yu, *The Bottom-Up EFT: Complete UV Resonances of the SMEFT Operators*, arXiv:2204.03660 [INSPIRE].
- [39] J. Gargalionis and R.R. Volkas, Exploding operators for Majorana neutrino masses and beyond, JHEP 01 (2021) 074 [arXiv:2009.13537] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Das Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty, S. Prakash, S.U. Rahaman and M. Spannowsky, EFT diagrammatica: UV roots of the CP-conserving SMEFT, JHEP 06 (2021) 033 [arXiv:2103.11593] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators III: Gauge Coupling Dependence and Phenomenology, JHEP 04 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1312.2014] [INSPIRE].
- [42] L. Berthier and M. Trott, Towards consistent Electroweak Precision Data constraints in the SMEFT, JHEP 05 (2015) 024 [arXiv:1502.02570] [INSPIRE].
- [43] Anisha, S. Das Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty and S.K. Patra, Connecting electroweak-scale observables to BSM physics through EFT and Bayesian statistics, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 076007 [arXiv:2010.04088] [INSPIRE].
- [44] Anisha, S. Das Bakshi, S. Banerjee, A. Biekötter, J. Chakrabortty, S. Kumar Patra et al., Effective limits on single scalar extensions in the light of recent LHC data, arXiv:2111.05876 [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Das Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty and M. Spannowsky, Classifying Standard Model Extensions Effectively with Precision Observables, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 056019 [arXiv:2012.03839] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Dawson, S. Homiller and M. Sullivan, Impact of dimension-eight SMEFT contributions: A case study, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 115013 [arXiv:2110.06929] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Corbett, A. Helset, A. Martin and M. Trott, EWPD in the SMEFT to dimension eight, JHEP 06 (2021) 076 [arXiv:2102.02819] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C. Hays, A. Martin, V. Sanz and J. Setford, On the impact of dimension-eight SMEFT operators on Higgs measurements, JHEP 02 (2019) 123 [arXiv:1808.00442] [INSPIRE].
- [49] B. Grinstein and M.B. Wise, Operator analysis for precision electroweak physics, Phys. Lett. B 265 (1991) 326 [INSPIRE].
- [50] O.J.P. Éboli and M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia, Classifying the bosonic quartic couplings, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 093013 [arXiv:1604.03555] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J. Ellis, S.-F. Ge, H.-J. He and R.-Q. Xiao, Probing the scale of new physics in the ZZγ coupling at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, Chin. Phys. C 44 (2020) 063106 [arXiv:1902.06631] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J. Ellis, H.-J. He and R.-Q. Xiao, Probing new physics in dimension-8 neutral gauge couplings at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, Sci. China Phys. Mech. Astron. 64 (2021) 221062
   [arXiv:2008.04298] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A.D. Sakharov, Violation of CP Invariance, C asymmetry, and baryon asymmetry of the universe, Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 5 (1967) 32 [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Kobayashi and T. Maskawa, CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction, Prog. Theor. Phys. 49 (1973) 652 [INSPIRE].
- [55] A.G. Cohen, D.B. Kaplan and A.E. Nelson, Progress in electroweak baryogenesis, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 43 (1993) 27 [hep-ph/9302210] [INSPIRE].

- [56] B. Grzadkowski and W.-Y. Keung, The Decay rate asymmetry of the top quark, Phys. Lett. B 319 (1993) 526 [hep-ph/9310286] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. de Vries, M. Postma, J. van de Vis and G. White, *Electroweak Baryogenesis and the Standard Model Effective Field Theory*, JHEP 01 (2018) 089 [arXiv:1710.04061] [INSPIRE].
- [58] ATLAS collaboration, CP Properties of Higgs Boson Interactions with Top Quarks in the  $t\bar{t}H$  and tH Processes Using  $H \to \gamma\gamma$  with the ATLAS Detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 061802 [arXiv:2004.04545] [INSPIRE].
- [59] CMS collaboration, Measurements of ttH Production and the CP Structure of the Yukawa Interaction between the Higgs Boson and Top Quark in the Diphoton Decay Channel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 061801 [arXiv:2003.10866] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Brehmer, F. Kling, T. Plehn and T.M.P. Tait, Better Higgs-CP Tests Through Information Geometry, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095017 [arXiv:1712.02350] [INSPIRE].
- [61] F.U. Bernlochner et al., Angles on CP-violation in Higgs boson interactions, Phys. Lett. B 790 (2019) 372 [arXiv:1808.06577] [INSPIRE].
- [62] C. Englert, P. Galler, A. Pilkington and M. Spannowsky, Approaching robust EFT limits for CP-violation in the Higgs sector, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 095007 [arXiv:1901.05982]
   [INSPIRE].
- S.D. Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty, C. Englert, M. Spannowsky and P. Stylianou, Landscaping CP-violating BSM scenarios, Nucl. Phys. B 975 (2022) 115676 [arXiv:2103.15861]
   [INSPIRE].
- [64] S. Das Bakshi, J. Chakrabortty, C. Englert, M. Spannowsky and P. Stylianou, CP violation at ATLAS in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 055008 [arXiv:2009.13394] [INSPIRE].
- [65] T. Abe, J. Hisano and R. Nagai, Model independent evaluation of the Wilson coefficient of the Weinberg operator in QCD, JHEP 03 (2018) 175 [Erratum ibid. 09 (2018) 020]
   [arXiv:1712.09503] [INSPIRE].
- [66] R. Huo, Standard Model Effective Field Theory: Integrating out Vector-Like Fermions, JHEP
   09 (2015) 037 [arXiv:1506.00840] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Angelescu and P. Huang, Integrating Out New Fermions at One Loop, JHEP 01 (2021)
   049 [arXiv:2006.16532] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S.A.R. Ellis, R.M. Godbole, S. Gopalakrishna and J.D. Wells, Survey of vector-like fermion extensions of the Standard Model and their phenomenological implications, JHEP 09 (2014) 130 [arXiv:1404.4398] [INSPIRE].
- [69] K. Ishiwata and M.B. Wise, Phenomenology of heavy vectorlike leptons, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 055009 [arXiv:1307.1112] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K. Ishiwata, Z. Ligeti and M.B. Wise, New Vector-Like Fermions and Flavor Physics, JHEP 10 (2015) 027 [arXiv:1506.03484] [INSPIRE].
- [71] Z. Zhang, Covariant diagrams for one-loop matching, JHEP 05 (2017) 152
   [arXiv:1610.00710] [INSPIRE].
- [72] H.H. Patel, Package-X: A Mathematica package for the analytic calculation of one-loop integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 197 (2015) 276 [arXiv:1503.01469] [INSPIRE].

- [73] CMS collaboration, Study of vector boson scattering and search for new physics in events with two same-sign leptons and two jets, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 051801
   [arXiv:1410.6315] [INSPIRE].
- [74] ATLAS collaboration, Evidence for Electroweak Production of  $W^{\pm}W^{\pm}jj$  in pp Collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS Detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113** (2014) 141803 [arXiv:1405.6241] [INSPIRE].
- [75] CMS collaboration, Observation of electroweak production of same-sign W boson pairs in the two jet and two same-sign lepton final state in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ , Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018) 081801 [arXiv:1709.05822] [INSPIRE].
- [76] CMS collaboration, Measurement of vector boson scattering and constraints on anomalous quartic couplings from events with four leptons and two jets in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ , Phys. Lett. B 774 (2017) 682 [arXiv:1708.02812] [INSPIRE].
- [77] CMS collaboration, Measurement of electroweak WZ boson production and search for new physics in WZ + two jets events in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV, Phys. Lett. B **795** (2019) 281 [arXiv:1901.04060] [INSPIRE].
- [78] ATLAS collaboration, Observation of electroweak  $W^{\pm}Z$  boson pair production in association with two jets in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B **793** (2019) 469 [arXiv:1812.09740] [INSPIRE].
- [79] ATLAS collaboration, Observation of electroweak production of a same-sign W boson pair in association with two jets in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123** (2019) 161801 [arXiv:1906.03203] [INSPIRE].